“History of Cemetery Memorial Art”

“Summary of an address before the National Retail Monument Dealers’ Convention at Milwaukee, by S. F. Duffield

Illustrated with forty-five stereopticon views

The Monumental News: Marble – Granite – Stone
Bronze – Sculpture
Vol. XXVI, No. 9, Chicago, September 1914, pp. 579-582 and front cover

This article, which begins on the next page, is presented on the Stone Quarries and Beyond web site.
http://quarriesandbeyond.org/

Peggy B. Perazzo
Email: pbperazzo@comcast.net
July 2015
The subject, Memorials, is as old as mankind. Without doubt our forefathers erected markers thousands of years before they learned to cook their food. Since the beginning of time, the workers in stone, with their iron pen, have written the very history of the world, not only in memorials, but for every year new discoveries disclose hidden people whose very lives, customs and language we find preserved in stone. Eliminate the stone industry and the great past is almost a blank. Consequently it is a distinct pleasure to go over merely a handful of all the glowing examples still remaining. We are especially indebted to Harry A. King of Buffalo, N. Y., for many illustrations and other valuable information so ably set forth in his most excellent book, "Memorial Art, Ancient and Modern."

PYRAMIDS, OR KINGS' TOMBS.

There are forty scattered throughout Egypt. Cheops is 480 feet high, 768 feet wide and covers 13 acres of ground, and 100,000 men were employed over twenty years in its construction. Some stones weigh 100 tons. They are also found extensively in Hindostan and Java and were built by the Aztec Indians in Mexico. They are symbolic of death and are always erected on the western bank of a river, the "side of the setting sun," which is also synonymous with death. The name pyramid is derived from the Egyptian words "Pi" and "Rama," meaning the mountain. This one is built upon a solid ledge which has been carefully hewn to the curve of the earth's surface, or 8-inch convex to the mile, to avoid earth shocks and convulsions. They are set on the cardinal points of the compass and every angle has some bearing upon the heavenly bodies and the earth's axis and poles.

The king's burial chamber was situated in the central portion, usually low down, with a narrow concealed passage leading thereto. This chamber is 34 feet long by 17 feet wide. The opening was finally discovered on the northern exposure 47 feet above the base. One reason for their great size and strength is the Egyptian's strong belief in immortality. They embalmed every living thing and at death placed with each body a "double," an image, sometimes of glass, stone, wood or terra cotta, believing as long as one remained, immortality was assured; if both were lost it meant complete annihilation. These tombs were not built later than the sixth dynasty, or 3400 to 3200 B.C. Twenty miles northeast of the City of Mexico is one whose base is 900 feet. In Cholula, still larger one, whose dimensions are 1488 feet base, 148 feet high, also placed according to the compass and built by the Aztec Indians, showing that the earth's axis has not changed in 6,000 years.

THE SPHINX.

The Sphinx is 189 feet long and is carved out of the solid rock, save in a few places which are filled with a kind of cement. The Sphinx is the guardian of the tombs and temples, and possessing a human head (or intellect) with the strength and body of the lion, was supposed to ward off the "evil spirit" or other enemies, as the devil.

STONE COFFINS.

The stone coffin or sarcophagus containing the king's mummy case was a mummiform monolith 9 by 11 feet long, of basalt, a kind of mixed granite quarried at Syene, Ethiopia, and has both the color and hardness of iron and is built to represent the lower story of the king's dwelling or home. It is according to the architecture of the period, the house of the god, built of red and clay, later of wood, then of stone. Similarly constructed ones are still found in Scotland and Ireland, the "Wattle Houses." The weight of the roof (in this moist climate) forced out these reeds, giving us the "cave or cavelto" moldings always used by the Egyptian architect and employed by others.

THE OBELISK.

The Obelisk is full of interest as a memorial, signifying "the power that can recreate," erected always on the east bank of a river, "the side of life," Japan using the idea to this day—"the Land of the Rising Sun." It is supposed to be the shape of the sun's rays and possess the same life-giving power, constructed of red granite, about the color of the sun's rays in that particular atmosphere. It is slightly convex on surface and diminishes towards the top; where it is three-quarters its lower width. Pyramid on top, called "pyramidion," is as high as the pyramid is wide at the base; the pyramidion is generally gilded or metalized. The obelisk is adorned with representations of the gods (generally the sun god) and of the king who erected it. They never stand alone, but one on each side of the temple's entrance. The Obelisk at Luxor, still standing in Rome, is 130 feet high without its pedestal, and weighs 446 tons. The second fell and was demolished. There is one in Paris, one in London, and the one in New York, which is 70 feet high, was erected by Queen Hatshepsut 1500 B.C., was later taken to Alexandria, Egypt, and in 1880 presented by the Khedive of Egypt to the United States.

The large columns of the Temple of Baal, the columns of the peristyle, are 60 feet high, in one solid block, and show the same influence as the later Greek. Baal was a Phoenician and Syrian god, worshipped as a "Supreme God," whose attribute was "power." Human sacrifice was used in connection with this worship. The temple is in Baalbek, a ruined town of Syria, situated 43 miles northwest from Damascus, so only little is known of its history.

A large stone, weighing 1,500 tons, intended for this temple, where other similar ones are found, is 60 feet long by 14 and 17 feet. It is a great way from the quarry and from the temple. It is all smoothly hewn. There is evidence to show even before this period that diamond and other jewel saws and drills were used, but as yet no satisfactory means of transportation has been discovered.

Petra, or the City of the Dead: Far out on the desert of Arabia is the burial place of the capital city of the Edomites, referred to in the Bible. Some of these tombs are so high that the coffins were hoisted by derricks or lowered from above.

Persians: King Darius, of the Medes and Persians. The tomb is a duplicate of his own palace, built by himself, and called his “Eternal Dwelling.” The “Beni Hasan” tombs in middle Egypt, probably about 900 years B.C., are among the oldest rock tombs remaining, and show the same influence as early Greek Doric architecture.

Early Greek period: Was very archaic and does not vary much from what has preceded. We get some knowledge of the times (481 B.C.) from Herodotus’ account of Xerxes’ Persian army, which was upwards of 200,000 fighting men, and with sables, slaves and women it exceeded five millions, with a navy of 1,200 ships or galleys.

About 500 years B.C. dawned what is known as “The Golden Age.” The architecture, monuments, sculpture, everything attempted for the next several hundred years, might easily be called “masterpieces”—at least they have never been excelled, and are hardly likely to be. This period probably terminated about or soon after the death of Alexander the Great, 323 B.C.

The sarcophagus of Alexander (so-called): In 1867, while excavating for building material near Sidon, this magnificent sarcophagus was found, with others—not that it contained the body of Alexander, but that the carvings show scenes and exploits of his life. This is one of the richest and finest examples known, showing influence of such sculptors as Lycippos and Praxiteles and others. It is a solid block of white Pentelic marble, 11 feet long by 5 feet 9 inches by 4 feet 8 inches, and the cover is 3 feet thick. The figures are splendidly arranged and exquisitely wrought and colored. The nude looks like ivory. The garments and armor are accurately portrayed and tinted and the background is filled with floating colored garments. The faces are brought out with color on the eyes and hair and so well done that the likeness of Alexander and others is easily discernible; shows Alexander at left fighting the Persians, also his general. On the other side is depicted a lion hunt. Alexander is saving the life of a Persian who is being attacked. This relief, though smaller, is considered the equal in every way to the famous frieze of the Parthenon. This sar-
samples of the Greek use of the Corinthian order.

The columns, like the arches, were erected principally by the Roman Senate, in honor of some great act—erected to commemorate military victory, building of military roads, bridges, viaducts, opening of ports, etc. Consul Minucius, 439 B.C., was so honored for saving Rome from starvation. Rome contained at that time 200,000 people. Dullius' column was decorated with six bronze heads of ships, taken from the Carthaginians. Augustus cast four bronze columns from the prows of Anthony's ships in memory of the battle of Actium.

The gigantic column of Trajan was dedicated by the Senate as part of his forum A.D. 113. The architect was Appolodorus of Damascus. There are 24 great pieces of marble cemented together to look like one. It is 128 feet high. It is a spiral column with an internal staircase containing 185 stairs. The column was presented by the Senate for having cut down the ridge between the Capitoline and Quirinal hill, thereby connecting the city. It is covered with the trophies of two Dacian wars, showing 25,000 figures in relief. Trajan constructed a bridge of 20 arches, 530 fathoms long, over the River Danube, or three times the width of the Thames at London, to conquer the Dacians.

Arches were first used as pedestals to support statues. They are generally triumphal arches. This "Arch of Titus" was erected on his return, after the capture of Jerusalem, 70 A.D. It is estimated 1,000,000 lives were lost in this siege. "The seven golden candlesticks" of the tabernacle were among the trophies captured, also hundreds of thousands of Jews as slaves. There are examples of Arches in Africa, the Holy Land, Greece, Germany, France, Spain: in fact, everywhere the Roman legions advanced. There are still 150 remaining and as many more are in ruins.

The Appian Way was a quarter of a mile wide and sixteen miles long, one vast Westminster Abbey of tombs. Many if not all roads leading from Rome contain similar cemeteries. The Romans built burial places outside the city's walls, but close by, for sacrifice and family gatherings, also because they were publicly prominent. In 1780, on this Way, in the catacomb of St. Hermes, was found Seipio's sarcophagus. It was taken to the Vatican, where it now is. One year later it was opened and the bones which it contained were removed to another monument. "Sarcophagus" is a misnomer today; it is taken from two Greek words, "Sarkos," meaning "flesh," and "Phugus," "I eat." Pliny says these coffins were carved of "Lapis altissi," a

stone from Assos,acia Minor, because of its caustic properties would devour a body in three weeks. This sarcophagus is of early Doric architecture, representing a Roman altar, with Ionic volutes and laurel leaves, and is cut from coarse gray Peperino stone. The inscription, giving the name of the deceased, is in colored with vermilion. Having died 258 B.C., these Latin inscriptions are among the oldest in existence. Great numbers of stone coffins appear later, cut by the stone masons, who left the faces to be carved after the death of the purchaser.

The sarcophagus of Constantia was named after the daughter of Constantine the Great, who accepted Christianity in 310 A.D., having been cured of a deadly disease by visiting the Christians in the catacombs and was buried in the one called St. Agnes. It is in the Vatican and is made of porphyry, which is a stone of fine grained base with quartz and felspar disseminating throughout. It is of red, green and purple varieties and very rare and highly prized as marble. The figures and designs are of Pagan origin, of that Roman period.

Catacombs: there are forty-three known catacombs, first discovered by accident in 1587. They are dug out of the lava rock called "Tufa" by diggers who were called "fossiers," and consist of subterranean passages and chambers, and all have various levels, and one reaches a depth of 81 feet, or what would be a five-story tenement house inverted. They were stopped by the waters of the Tiber inundating. Here for ten generations, or 300 years, the early Christians worshipped and buried their dead. There are four million known graves. This is the catacomb of St. Agnes, one and one-quarter miles from the Port Fia, on the Via Nomentana. Agnes, because she would not marry a son of a Roman prefect, but preferred Christianity, was first tortured and then thrown into the arena and became a martyr at the early age of 13 years. This catacomb has been a shrine much worshipped by the women. The catacomb of St. Callistus in all its ruminating passages is estimated to be 600 miles long, or the entire length of Italy. From these catacombs we get our first Christian symbols. The passages are lined with crypts, sealed with a shutter, upon which have been crudely inscribed some symbol, such as the fish, the anchor, the dove, or the "Christmas."

Constantine the Great became Emperor in 306 A.D. Six years later was converted to Christianity, having seen a cross in the heavens. He tore down pagan temples and built Christian churches in Romanesque and Byzantine architecture, with all their details, altars, crosses, tombs, etc.

Theodoric the Great: King of the Goths and of Italy. This tomb was built about 530 A.D., is situated just outside the walls of Ravenna, and was probably influenced by Hadrian’s tomb and not like the round towers of Ireland. It is made of Istrian marble, is decagon or ten sided, and its diameter is 45 feet, with arches and crypts. The upper story is 35 feet in diameter, while inside it is 30 feet, is drum shaped and had coupled columns on each side of the rectangular recesses. The roof is one piece 35 feet in diameter, 3 feet high, and weighs upward of 300 tons. The twelve buttresses, like dormer windows, were left rough, by which means it was hoisted into place. Later these were finished and upon each stood a statue of one of the twelve apostles. Theodoric began to influence the Romanesque architecture with the Gothic; some very early examples remain in Spain. Gothic architecture is said to have sprung from the groves. "The Groves were God’s first temples," and probably of Druid origin. The columns are the tree trunks, the housetops form the groined arches, and the cornells, bunches of leaves and the ivy and grape vines entwining complete the feeling. Spreading west and north, it became, and still is, the prevailing church architecture.

English crosses consist of memorial crosses, market crosses, weeping crosses, boundary, preaching, butter and poultry crosses, etc. Coventry cross was regisled in 1668, requiring 15,403 hooks of gold. A fine was levied of 3 shillings and 4 pence for sweeping within the square without sprinkling. The Chichester cross was considered the most elaborate of all English crosses. There were 5,000 such crosses in England before the Reformation. Some were torn down by Cromwell, others removed by orders of Parliament. The Waltham cross was erected by King Edward I, 1291. Edward when in the Holy Land was stabbed by a Saracen with a poisoned dagger. Queen Elenor, who was with him, rushed to his side, sucked the poisoned wound and saved the king’s life. The Queen Elenor crosses are 15 in number. Besides being the mother of 15 children, the queen was generally in the battle front with the king. While fighting in the north the queen left London to join the army, was taken suddenly ill and died. Being winter, and 159 miles from London, the funeral procession rested every night, or fifteen times, and on each spot where the body lay the king ordered a cross placed. This Charing cross was the last stop before Westminster Abbey, but is now the very center of London.

The Celtic Crosses: There are 300 localities in England, 259 in Scotland, 60 in Ireland, 53 in Wales, 20 in the Isle of Man, where have been found Christian stones executed before the Norman invasion, or about the year 1000 A.D. Cross at Monasterboice, County Louth, Ireland: The total height is 17 feet; the inscriptions are always very short. On this one it says, “Pray for the soul of Muredach, by whom this cross was made.” He was the abbot at the monastery and died 924 A.D. Celtic designs on the stone are evidently copied and carried out by the monks from their manuscript, such as the book of Kells, the book of Armagh, and the book of Lindesfarne, and the book of Darrow. In the book of Armagh 138 interlacing have been found in a space 3½ inches, and the rendering of the line is perfect. These designs were drawn free hand on the stone, then drilled along the line, then connected. The different patterns are too numerous to mention and many of the best examples have been found face inward, built into the walls by the Normans.

In closing, let all bear in mind that the mistakes of the doctors are buried, while ours remain in view till eternity, and in striving for better designs and workmanship we shall better ourselves financially and render a good account of our stewardship, even as they did in the past; and so I thank you, hoping each succeeding year will bring you fuller returns and better business.